MAY - 9 2014
Ronald R. Carpenter
Clerk

NO. 00230-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 69332-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ELIZABETH AND JASON BROOKS,

Petitioners,

v.

BPM SENIOR LIVING COMPANY,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

PETITIONERS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

King County Superior Court Case No. 10-2-41987-0 SEA

Lori S. Haskell, WSBA #15779 936 N 34<sup>th</sup> St. Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98103 (206) 816-6603 Attorney for Petitioners

##

## I. Identity of Petitioners

Elizabeth and Jason Brooks were the plaintiffs in the trial court and the appellants in the Court of Appeals.

#### II. Court of Appeals Decision

Petitioners seek review of the Division I unpublished decision in Brooks v. BPM, COA No: 69332-8-1 filed on March 17, 2014. Citations in this petition are to the numbered pages of the Court of Appeals opinion attached as Appendix A. The Court of Appeals denied Petitioners' timely motion for reconsideration on April 10, 2014. That order is attached as Appendix B to this petition.

#### III. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. Whether an employer fulfills its duty to assist a disabled employee in seeking alternative employment in the company when the only 'interaction' with the employee is a single phrase in an e-mail stating the employer "would be willing to take a look within the organization" for other jobs and then orders the employee's final check without ever acquiring any information on the parameters of the disability or actually evaluating potential jobs.
- Whether this court should provide guidance interpreting RCW
   49.78.300(1)(a), the statute that prevents interference with maternity leave
   and whether that statute is so narrowly construed that if the employer

allows the employee to take maternity leave no other behavior is considered "interference".

- 3. Whether it is sexual harassment for an employer to refuse to reassign an employee so that she can breast feed her infant based on the fact that giving birth is a normal life event and only women give birth and whether the accompanying hostility experienced by the employee for taking maternity leave is also sexual harassment.
- 4. Whether it is retaliation to interfere with maternity leave, refuse to reasonably accommodate a cognizable medical condition and to sever employment based upon the fact that a woman is medically compelled to nurse her baby.

#### IV. Statement of the Case

The following facts are contained in the Court of Appeals Opinion and supplemented by the trial court record.

A. The Trial Court Ruled That a Single Reference By the Employer Stating It "Would Be Willing To Take a Look Within the Organization" for Alternative Employment for Elizabeth Brooks Satisfied The Employer's Duty to Aid an Employee in Finding Another Job for a Disabled Employee.

Elizabeth Brooks, Appellant, was the only woman employed at the managerial level by BPM, the Respondent. In late February 2009, she announced that she was pregnant. Within two weeks Walt Bowen, the owner of the company, wrote an e-mail stating critical of Elizabeth's job

performance. CP (150) The employer produced no previous record of any negative comments regarding Elizabeth Brooks. The following day, Bowen wrote a second e-mail regarding Elizabeth's pregnancy:

I would suggest that given her situation as it now stands and the care the [sic] will be needed with her child that we approach her with the idea of being "the marketing and sales team leader" at Overlake...this is better than the alternative."

#### CP 151

At trial the owner of the company confirmed that "the alternative" was termination.

In September 2009, Ms. Brooks gave birth to a baby girl. Elizabeth and her employer agreed that she would take a 12 week maternity leave. Four days after giving birth, Elizabeth received an ominous e-mail from her superior, Vice President Dennis Parfitt. The e-mail strongly suggested that her job was at risk. (CP 152) Parfitt continued to pressure Ms. Brooks about her job throughout her maternity leave. Multiple witnesses testified to Elizabeth taking calls in her home office from which she emerged distraught and in tears.

Fearing that she would lose her job, Elizabeth returned to work part-time after just 6 weeks. Ms. Brooks testified that she was afraid if she did not return she would lose her job. Parfitt continued to pressure Elizabeth Brooks to resign and offered her contract work if she would

leave. Ms. Brooks refused. This culminated on December 10, 2009 when Parfitt drove from company headquarters in Portland and took Ms. Brooks to lunch. (CP 153) He spent three hours pressuring Elizabeth to quit and she continued to refuse. Four different witnesses testified how distraught Elizabeth was after the lunch with Parfitt and that evening when she attended an employee holiday party. (CP 153-154)

December 21, 2009 was Elizabeth's first full day back at work from maternity leave. On that same day the Respondent fired her. (CP 154) She was informed that her last day would be December 31<sup>st</sup> because "Walt wants you off the payroll." (CP 154) Thus Elizabeth spent the rest of the month believing that she no longer had a job. On December 30, 2009, the Respondent reversed course and without explanation told Ms. Brooks to report to company headquarters the first week in January. (CP 154)

Meanwhile, Elizabeth Brooks' baby would only feed from the breast. The baby would not take formula and after trying to entice her to do so the infant refused bottles. Thus, in order to nourish her daughter, Elizabeth had no choice but to breastfeed her. This was not a problem because for the most part Ms. Brooks worked out of her home office by telephone. (CP 149) She traveled to facilities owned by the company but had always been in charge of her own travel schedule. (CP 149) Elizabeth

had arranged for her mother-in-law to travel with her, acting as a nanny. (CP 156)

In early February 2010, the Respondent presented Elizabeth with a new travel schedule. That schedule required her to travel four days a week, three weeks out of every month and to change locations every day. The new schedule nearly doubled her travel from the prior year, was significantly more than in 2008 and quadrupled the amount Ms. Brooks travelled in 2007. (CP 155) She could not keep that schedule and breast feed her infant, a fact her employer knew. (CP 155) Ms. Brooks became increasingly anxious as it became clear that BPM would not wait until she weaned her baby to install the new travel schedule.

On February 9, 2010, the owner of the company wrote the following e-mail to Parfitt.

Having a baby is not a disability and millions of women are working after childbirth. Maybe if she thought it was going to change her career options she should have taken a different approach to her career.

(CP 155-156)

During this time, Elizabeth Brooks approached her employer with several alternatives, including limiting her travel to those properties reachable by car and continuing an employee coaching program taught via phone conferences. (CP 156) Elizabeth made it clear that her baby would

be weaned by late May or June. However, the Respondent continued to demand that she begin the schedule immediately. Elizabeth Brooks became increasingly stressed and anxious about being able to feed her baby. As a result, her milk began to dry up. Alarmed, Elizabeth saw her doctor who confirmed that stress has a deleterious effect on milk supply. On February 23, 2010, Elizabeth's physician, wrote a note which read:

"Ms. Brooks may not to travel as long as she is breastfeeding."
(CP 157)

Elizabeth held onto the note but it became clear that her milk supply was continuing to diminish. On March 10, 2010, Elizabeth reluctantly provided her doctor's note to Parfitt fearing there would be repercussions. (CP 157) Six days passed with no communication from her employer. It is unrefuted that neither Parfitt nor anyone else at BPM made any attempt to discuss the parameters of the note with Elizabeth Brooks or requested permission to speak with her doctor. Parfitt stated that he assumed the note meant that Elizabeth Brooks was medically prevented from all travel including car travel. (CP 158) His interpretation of the note was inconsistent with the testimony of Elizabeth's physician.

On March 17, 2010 Parfitt ordered Elizabeth's final check. The day prior, on March 16, 2010 Parfitt sent an e-mail to Elizabeth Brooks stating that they needed to "come to a quick resolution". The only inquiry

he made regarding other jobs in the company consisted of the following phrase.

I am also willing to take a look to see if there are any positions within the organization that do not require travel...the only positions I can think of off hand, pay a lot less than what you currently make...

Op 22 (CP 158)

The trial court and Division I both found that the Respondent satisfied its duty to interact with the employee based upon this lone phrase Parfitt wrote in the March 16<sup>th</sup> e-mail.

B. In a Case of First Impression Division One Narrowly
Construed the Term "Interference" in RCW 49.78.300(1)
Finding that it Only Pertains To Whether or Not the Employer
Allowed the Employee to Take Maternity Leave.

As Division I points out there are no Washington cases interpreting the term "interference" in RCW 49.78.300. In fact, to date our courts have not analyzed statutes in this emerging area of the law. Looking to the Family Medical Leave Act, Division I found that FMLA does not define the term 'interference" and so applied Department of Labor regulations for a definition of the term. (Op 25) The opinion concluded that "interference" is defined as refusing to allow the employee to take maternity leave. The Division I opinion affirmed the trial court's finding that since Elizabeth Brooks took maternity leave and then returned to work there was no interference with her maternity leave. (Op. 25) Based

on its narrow analysis of the term "interference" Division 1 found that the Respondent did not interfere with Ms. Brooks' maternity leave. (Op 26)

This is a matter of first impression. The opinion is confined to the fact that her employer allowed Elizabeth Brooks to take maternity leave and addresses none of the other circumstances that arose from that act.

C. Whether It Is Sex Discrimination For An Employer To Act With Hostility Toward an Employee Who Has Taken Maternity Leave and Is Medically Compelled to Breast Feed Her Infant.

The Division I opinion states that the Respondent's efforts to get Ms. Brooks to leave the company in late 2009 were related to her pregnancy and concluded that pressuring her to leave the company was harassment. Op 16. However, the opinion concludes that because Parfitt was not verbally harsh to Ms. Brooks, his actions were not abusive. No legal basis is provided for this conclusion. Op 17 Furthermore, the examination of sex harassment does not include any analysis of hostility shown toward Ms. Brooks

Since only women become pregnant it stands to reason that the pervasive and hostile treatment experienced by Ms. Brooks was sex discrimination. This court has previously found that discrimination based upon pregnancy is sex discrimination. *Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co.*, *Inc.*, 162 Wn. 2d 340, 172 P.2d 688 (2007). Furthermore, that

Respondent's hostility toward Ms. Brooks extended to her breastfeeding requirements was reflected its rigidity in addressing that need. Pregnancy, childbirth and nursing are normal life events. Those normal life events are only experienced by women. Ms. Brooks did not have a choice when it came to nursing her infant. The Respondent had a choice in its treatment of her. Hostility for taking maternity leave continued to echo in Elizabeth's relationship with her employer. A work environment made hostile due to gender is sexual harassment.

D. Whether An Employee Has Retaliation Claims When Her Employer Has Interfered With Her Maternity Leave, Created A Hostile Work Environment In Response To Exercising Her Right To Maternity Leave and Refused to Provide Accommodation For a Medically Documented Disability.

Retaliation claims are governed by RCW 49.60.210. The Division I decision ignores the retaliatory action by the Respondent regarding maternity leave and pressuring Elizabeth Brooks to resign. Furthermore the opinion overlooks the fact that the Respondent fired Ms. Brooks her first day back from maternity leave. This was not a mere threat—the employer ordered that Elizabeth be gone telling her, "Walt wants you off the payroll." (CP 154) The decision ignores the reality that such an action creates a hostile work environment. Finally, Elizabeth Brooks had a medically cognizable medical condition and pursuant to law was entitled

to an accommodation. What she got instead was her final paycheck.

These are acts of retaliation on the part of the employer.

#### V. Argument Why Review Should Be Granted

Pursuant to well-settled case law the employer must engage in an interactive process with a disabled employee and assist that employee in looking for other jobs within the company that can be performed despite the disability. A long line of cases interpret RCW 49.60.030 in the context of employee disability. This line of cases requiring an interactive process between employer and employee was developed to avoid exactly what happened in this instance. Furthermore, this Division I opinion construes the term "interference" so narrowly that an employer can browbeat, harass and threaten an employee throughout maternity leave. This Court should accept review to address the needs of working mothers who are experiencing a normal life event by taking maternity leave and nursing their babies because employers continue to react with hostility. Finally, this Court should review retaliation claims within the context of maternity leave, sexual harassment and failure to reasonably accommodate.

A. The Appellate Opinion Conflicts With this Court's Decisions
Establishing that an Interactive Process is Triggered When an
Employee Reports a Disability and it Conflicts With Other
Appellate Court Decisions.

This court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because this decision conflicts with a line of cases that direct the employer and the employee to engage in an interactive process to determine alternative employment for the disabled employee. This doctrine was firmly established in *Goodman v. Boeing*, 127 Wn. 2d 401, 899 P.2d 1265 (1995). Case law continues to find an affirmative duty on behalf of the employer to assist the employee in finding alternative positions within the organization. "Reasonable accommodation thus envisions an exchange between employer and employee where each seeks and shares information to achieve the best match between the employee's capabilities and available positions." *Id. at* 408-409. Notice from the employee of a disability "triggers the employer's burden to take 'positive steps' to determine the extent of the disability" and accommodate the employee's limitations." *Goodman v. Boeing*, at 407.

In multiple opinions this court has tasked the employer with the responsibility of making cognizable efforts to find alternative employment for the disabled employee elsewhere in the company. *Dedman*, 98 Wash.App. at 486, 989 P.2d 1214; *Clarke v. Shoreline Sch. Dist. No. 412*, 106 Wash.2d 102, 121, 720 P.2d 793 (1986); *Havlina v. Washington State Dept. of Transp.* 142 Wash.App. 510, 178 P.3d 354 (2007).

The Respondent sought no information on Elizabeth's disability and took no affirmative steps to help her find another position in the company. Thus Respondent's conduct falls well below the standard established in previous opinions issued by this court requiring an employer to "take positive steps" to accommodate an employee and urging both parties to "seek and share information to achieve the best match" in locating a different position. Harrell v. Washington State ex rel. Dept. of Social Health Services, 170 Wash.App. 386, 285 P.3d 159 (2012). Pursuant to well established case law, merely suggesting that there "may" be an opening at another facility does not satisfy the criteria the law requires of an employer in responding to a disability reported by the employee. <sup>1</sup> The opinion mischaracterized an offhand comment as a "job offer" even though the record reflects none of the typical criteria associated with a valid proposal such as position, title, salary or responsibilities.

Furthermore, this opinion conflicts with another recent decision by Division I and thus is ripe for discretionary review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2). In *Frisino v. Seattle School Dist. No. 1*, 160 Wash. App. 765, 249 P.3d 1044 (2011) the defendant tried multiple accommodations but Division I found it did not go far enough in attempting to find an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Downey v. Crowley Marine Services, Inc., 236 F.3d 1019, 1023 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001)

accommodation. The opinion warns, "An employer may choose to make only one attempt at accommodation, but it risks statutory liability if that attempt is not effective and it cannot show that additional efforts are an undue burden." *Frisino* at 782. It is the employer's responsibility under the law to offer an accommodation that is reasonable and effective. Frisino also reinforces "a flexible interactive process" as the employer and employee exchange information in order to find an alternative placement for the employee. Frisino at 779.

B. This Decision Interpreted RCW 49.78.300(1) Which Makes This a Case of First Impression. There is No Previous Interpretation of the Term "Interference" in the Context of this Statute Prohibiting Interference With Maternity Leave. Additionally This is a Decision With Broad Public Policy Implications.

Promulgated in 2006, RCW 49.78.390 specifically references

Washington's statutes governing leave as distinct from the federal scheme.

However, in its analysis of the term "interference" Division I turned to the

Federal Medical Leave Act which also does not define the term. The

Appellate court then analyzed "interference" by applying federal labor regulations. In doing so Division I applied an unnecessarily narrow interpretation of "interference" and erroneously concluded that in the context of maternity leave the term is limited to precluding the employee

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> EEOC v. UPS Supply Chain Solutions, 620 F. 3d 1103, 1110 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2010); Barnett v. U.S. Air, Inc., 228 F.3d 1105, 1114-15 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir 2000) (en banc), vacated on other grounds, 535 U.S. 391 (2002).

access to such leave. This flawed analysis led Division I to conclude that since the Respondent "did not prevent Brooks from taking leave" it therefore had not "interfered" with her maternity leave under the terms of the statute. Op 13.

However, a search of federal cases interpreting the FMLA reveals a much broader interpretation of the term "interference". Bachelder v. America-West Airlines, 259 F.3d 1112 (9th Cir. 2001) holds that the exercise of the right to take FMLA leave must be "meaningful" and that an employee cannot suffer negative consequences as a result of availing herself of FMLA leave. "[S]tatutory and regulatory language of FMLA makes clear that where an employee is subjected to "negative consequences...simply because he has used FMLA leave," the employer has interfered with the employee's FMLA rights under 29 C.F.R. Sec. 825.220(a)(1)". Bachelder at 1124. In Xin Liu v. Amway Corporation, 347 R.3d 1125, 1137 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003) the plaintiff was terminated following negative performance reviews after taking FMLA to give birth to a child. That opinion concludes that if taking FMLA is connected with negative acts by the employer, such acts constitute interference with the employee's right to FMLA. Xin Liu v. Amway, at 1137.

As these cases demonstrate, the federal courts have not limited the term "interference" to refusing to allow the employee to take FMLA leave.

Division I did not analyze the Respondent's acts pursuant to whether or not they "discouraged" Elizabeth Brooks from taking maternity leave.

Certainly threatening Elizabeth Brooks's job and pressuring her to resign "discourage" taking maternity leave. This court should broaden the term interference to include harassment of the employee so that the acts such as those of the Respondent are precluded. Our state supreme court should define the meaning of a state statute as opposed to relying on an interpretation of federal labor regulations.

Pursuant to this Division I decision, an employer could pressure, threaten and browbeat an employee on maternity leave and still not violate the law. Such an interpretation strips the teeth from this statute and exposes employees to unconscionable behavior. There is no indication whatsoever that the legislature intended to limit the term "interference" to whether or not the employee is allowed to take maternity leave.

# C. Forcing A Woman To Choose Between Her Job And Feeding Her Baby Is Gender Discrimination and An Issue of Public Policy.

In Washington case law there is, essentially, a single opinion that addresses pregnancy in the workplace and that is in the context of hiring. *Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co.*, Inc., 162 Wn. 2d 340, 172 P.2d 688 (2007). Issues of maternity leave and nursing mothers returning to the workplace have not yet been fully addressed. Increasingly, these are

15

issues of public policy with serious and far reaching implications.<sup>3</sup>
Women are now breadwinners in the family and our law are still catching up to that fact. The subject of nursing mothers in the workplace is now a legal topic.<sup>4</sup>

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