RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jun 06, 2014, 2:18 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 90220-8

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 69332-8-I

# COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JASON AND ELIZABETH BROOKS,

Petitioners/Appellants,

VS.

#### BPM SENIOR LIVING COMPANY,

Respondent.

### ANSWER OPPOSING REVIEW BY RESPONDENT BPM SENIOR LIVING COMPANY

Averil Rothrock, WSBA #24248 Elizabeth A. Schleuning, WSBA #16077 Farron D. Curry, WSBA #40559 SCHWABE, WILLIAMSON & WYATT, P.C. U.S. Bank Centre 1420 5th Avenue, Suite 3400 Seattle, WA 98101-4010

Attorneys for Respondent BPM Senior Living Company



###

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

Based on these unchallenged Findings, the Court must reject Brooks's characterization of the record that BPM only communicated its willingness to look for other jobs in "a single phrase in an e-mail," that this email is "an off-hand comment," and that BPM essentially refused to accommodate Brooks. *Petition* 1 at Issue Statements #1, #2, and #4; *Petition* 7, 12. The Petition falsely portrays the Findings.

After Brooks and Parfitt exchanged the March 16<sup>th</sup> emails, Parfitt and Brooks spoke on the telephone. CP 68, FF 50-2. Based on a credibility determination of competing testimony from Brooks and Parfitt, which determination relied on contemporaneous notes and emails written by Brooks, Judge Heller found that the parties agreed to a mutual separation based on a severance amount suggested by Brooks. *Id*.

### B. Judge Heller Examined Each Claim in Detail and Concluded That Brooks's Proof Failed.

After setting forth thirteen pages of Findings, Judge Heller considered Brooks's claims. CP 70-79. Analysis of each claim contains reference to the determinative facts, his credibility determinations when necessary, his reasoning, and the law, including case citations. *Id*.

Judge Heller concluded that Brooks did not suffer an adverse employment action. CP 71:18-19. To reach this conclusion, Judge Heller applied *Crownover v. Dept. of Transportation*, 165 Wn. App. 131, 148, 265 P.3d 971 (2011) and *Kirby v. City of Tacoma*, 124 Wn. App. 454, 98 P.3d 827 (2004), discussing the requirement of an adverse employment action. Because Brooks voluntarily resigned in March 2010, and because prior to that in December 2009, BPM had threatened but not followed

through on terminating Brooks after December 31, 2009, Judge Heller concluded that the facts did not establish an adverse employment action.

Judge Heller also concluded that because BPM had met its burden to show that the travel obligations of Brooks's position were "legitimate" and "non-discriminatory," the travel obligations did not establish her claims. See CP 72:1-15.

Judge Heller found that Brooks failed to establish a "sufficiently pervasive" work environment in her attempt to prove a hostile work environment. CP 72:17 to CP 73:14. Judge Heller correctly noted that emails from President Walt Bowen to Dennis Parfitt—from which Brooks quotes at length in her Petition—never were disclosed to Brooks. CP 73:12-14.

As to claims related to her alleged "disability," Judge Heller did not reach whether Brooks in fact had a disability. He ruled that, in any event, the essential functions of her job required the travel—at least some degree of travel—that she and her doctor said she could not perform. CP 74, 22 to 75:2. "Therefore, Ms. Brooks was not able to perform the essential functions of her job with or without reasonable accommodation." CP 75:1-2. Judge Heller also concluded that BPM had made sufficient offers of accommodation. CP 75:3-8. He noted, "There is no evidence that Ms. Brooks was interested in pursuing other lower paying jobs,

preferring instead the six-month severance package offered by BPM." CP 75:7-8.

Finally, as to alleged interference with maternity leave, Judge Heller stated, "There is no evidence . . . that Ms. Brooks was coerced into coming back early. Rather, her email communications with BPM's human resources director show that she herself wanted to return early." CP 76:25 to 77:3. Judge Heller ultimately concluded that "BPM did not interfere with Ms. Brooks' rights under RCW 49.78.300(1)(a)." Judge Heller recognized that "interference" could include actions "discouraging an employee's right to leave," CP 76:16-19, but found that this did not occur. CP 76:24-CP 77:7.

### C. The Court of Appeals Affirmed Judge Heller's Trial Verdict in a Detailed, but Unpublished, Decision.

In twenty-seven pages, Judges Cox, Dwyer, and Grosse of Division I addressed Brooks's sixteen-assignment appeal. The Opinion's "unpublished" status shows that the panel did not view the decision as precedential. See RAP 12.3(d) (publication criteria). The panel relied on existing law to affirm the verdict. Opinion 5-27. The Opinion demonstrates proper deference to the trial court's findings, credibility determinations, and weighing of the evidence. See, e.g., Opinion 14.

### D. Brooks's Petition Fails to Assert Plausible Grounds for Relief from This Court.

Brooks states at the conclusion of her Petition without citation, authority, or explanation that the Court should reverse the Court of Appeals "and remand for resolution of Appellant's claims for disability discrimination, interference with maternity leave, sex discrimination and retaliation." Petition 20. Presumably, Brooks seeks a direction from this Court that Brooks established four of her claims as a matter of law. She did not. She fails to identify the Findings that support judgment in her favor. Instead, she tells a story that has no support in the Findings and excludes pertinent Findings. The Petition seeks no plausible relief.

# IV. ARGUMENT: THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE BROOKS MERELY SEEKS A DIFFERENT OUTCOME FOR HER TRIAL AND FAILS TO DEMONSTRATE ANY BASIS FOR REVIEW

Review is unwarranted under the grounds asserted, RAP 13.4(b)(2) and RAP 13.4(b)(4). There is no "conflict" of decisions. The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision creates no conflicts in need of reconciliation, least of which because it is not binding authority but also because the Opinion applies existing law. The Opinion—and the trial verdict—are consistent with precedent. The facts painstakingly found by Judge Heller—as opposed to those asserted without citation and falsely stated by Brooks—do not show that Brooks necessarily established any

claim. The trial result was fair and one of the possible results based on the conflicting evidence. This case does not present a worthy opportunity to refine any relevant jurisprudence.

This Court should reject the Petition because Brooks misrepresents the record and falsely premises her issue statements. These missteps should be fatal to review.

## A. The Unpublished Decision Does Not Create a Conflict with Existing Precedent Concerning "Reasonable Accommodation."

This Court promptly should reject Brooks's assertion that the Opinion creates a conflict of decisions concerning "reasonable accommodation" of a disability that warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(2). The Opinion does not.

Brooks fails to cite or quote from the Opinion to demonstrate that it creates a conflict. *Petition* at V.A. (pp. 10-13). Brooks leaves it to the Court and BPM to guess what formulation of law or portion of the Opinion is in conflict with other decisions.

The thrust of Brooks's objection, it becomes clear, is with the result in her case. This Court is not in the business of correcting results.

The Opinion does not conflict with Division I's decision Frisino v. Seattle School Dist. No. 1, 160 Wn. App. 765, 249 P.3d 1044 (2011). See Petition 12-13. A simple review of the explanations of law in the two

cases shows no conflict. Cf., Frisino, 160 Wn. App. at 778-84 with Opinion at 21-23. Both rely on this Court's decision Goodman v. Boeing Co., 127 Wn.2d 401, 899 P.2d 1265 (1995), the very case that Brooks asserts should control. Petition 11. See Frisino, 160 Wn. App. at 779-80 (citing Goodman); Opinion at 21 n. 58 (citing case quoting Goodman.) Judge Grosse apparently judged the Division I decisions compatible, as he notably signed both.

This case also is procedurally distinguishable from *Frisino*. The *Frisino* court reviewed a summary judgment ruling, 160 Wn. App. at 776-77, not a trial verdict as in this case. Taking all inferences in favor of the employee, the *Frisino* court remanded for trial the issue whether the various efforts at accommodation attempted by the Seattle School District for an employee with an alleged respiratory sensitivity were reasonable. The ultimate determination in *Frisino*—like in Brooks's case—is for the trier of fact. The Opinion and *Frisino* are compatible.

This Court need not accept review to establish that, in disability cases, to reach a "reasonable accommodation" requires "a flexible, interactive process" between the employer and the employee. This already is the law. See RCW 49.60.040(7)(d); Goodman, supra, 127 Wn.2d at 408-09; Frisino, 160 Wn. App. at 779-80. The Opinion is consistent with these duties. Brooks does not like Judge Heller's

conclusion that BPM satisfied the duty assuming it applied.<sup>2</sup> The Petition asks this Court to take the ultimate determination of "reasonable accommodation" away from the finder of fact. Brooks's position is contrary to law and not worthy of consideration.

The Opinion does not create a conflict concerning "reasonable accommodation" that this Court should resolve.

# B. Brooks Fails to Demonstrate That the Law Requires Refinement Concerning the Proposed Issues or That Her Case Is a Suitable Vehicle to Examine Such Issues.

Brooks's case will not resolve the four issues presented. Because the unchallenged Findings are not as Brooks asserts, and because other issues resolved her claims, review of her case will not lead to resolution of the four proposed issue statements. Her Petition, thus, presents abstract questions unsuitable for review. The law is sufficiently developed to conclude on this record—as Judge Heller did—that Brooks did not prove her claims. The Court, therefore, should not take review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Findings demonstrate that Brooks rejected repeat offers by BPM of non-travel positions, and that—both before and after Brooks presented her doctor's note—BPM expressly invited her input and suggestions. *Supra* at III.A.2 and 4. Judge Heller also found, "There is no evidence that Ms. Brooks was interested in pursuing other lower paying jobs, preferring instead the six-month severance package offered by BPM." CP 75:7-8. This finding is consistent with the law and explains the result.

BPM addresses the four proposed issue statements. As already noted regarding reasonable accommodation, Brooks's **Issue Statement #1** is premised on a false depiction of the Findings. *See supra*, III.A.<sup>3</sup> The actual Findings more than adequately support Judge Heller's conclusion that she did not prove failure to accommodate assuming, without deciding, that she had a disability. CP 74-75. The Court of Appeals confirmed that the record supported the findings and conclusion. *Opinion*, 21-23. Based on these Findings, it would be difficult to characterize the conclusion even as "a close call." For further discussion, *see supra*, IV.A.

Brooks's **Issue Statement** #2 asks this Court to "provide guidance" on what constitutes "interference" with maternity leave prohibited by RCW 49.78.390. Brooks unjustly characterizes the Opinion's approach to "interference" as "narrow." *Petition* 7-8. Brooks states that the Court "should broaden the term ['interference with maternity leave'] to include harassment of the employee so that *the acts* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Due to limited space, BPM cannot point out all the inaccuracies. As additional examples, Brooks states with citation to CP 157: "On March 10, 2010, Elizabeth reluctantly provided her doctor's note to Parfitt fearing there would be repercussions." *Petition* 6. The citation is misleading because Judge Heller made **no** finding that Brooks "reluctantly" provided the note or that she "feared" "repercussions." Brooks also re-argues her case. For example, she states that Parfitt's "interpretation of the note [that Brooks could not travel while breastfeeding] was inconsistent with the testimony of Elizabeth's physician." *Petition* 6. In fact, Judge Heller found that "Brooks obtained a doctor's note prohibiting travel as long as she was breastfeeding." This unchallenged Finding is binding.

such as those of the Respondent are precluded." Petition 15 (emphasis added). Brooks fails to identify specific acts or the rule that she proposes.<sup>4</sup> Brooks fails to show that lack of a statutory definition of "interfere" as used in RCW 49.78.300 is a problem, or one that her case could fix. Both the Court of Appeals and the trial court applied a flexible definition of "interference" not limited to "preventing" leave but including any conduct "discouraging" an employee from using leave. *Opinion* 25-26; CP 76-77. The Court need not accept review to "correct" a narrow reading.

Regarding Issue Statement #3, Brooks suggests this Court should accept review to rule that as a matter of law, she established a sexual harassment claim based on BPM's "refus[al] to reassign an employee so that she can breast feed" and "hostility" for taking maternity leave. But Brooks established neither. She cites no Finding that would support a directed verdict of sexual harassment. Brooks perceived the travel requirements as hostile, but Judge Heller did not. Because Judge Heller determined that BPM required Brooks's travel due to legitimate business needs, not because of her sex or her prior maternity leave, CP 72:25 to 73:1, she cannot claim that the travel requirements demonstrated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Brooks asserts that this Court should pronounce that "forcing a woman to choose between her job and feeding her baby is gender discrimination." *Petition* V.C. (p. 15). BPM did not do this. This rhetoric is not helpful.

harassment. This Court should not accept review to take these ultimate conclusions away from the trier of fact.

If Issue Statement #3 refers to Brooks's effort to establish a "hostile work environment," her evidence also failed. CP 72-73; *Opinion* 15-18. Brooks communicated on these issues with Parfitt, whom Judge Heller found was never abusive. CP 73:10. Indeed, the Court of Appeals observed that the emails and communications from Parfitt had "a respectful and often friendly and concerned tone." *Opinion* 17. Emails written by Walt Bowen, which Judge Heller judged "harsh," CP 73:12-14, never were sent to Brooks. *Id.* Because she was not aware of these emails, they cannot establish a hostile workplace. Judge Heller also found that Bowen had no animus connected to Brooks's taking maternity leave. CP 77:11-12. Judge Heller concluded that Brooks's work environment was not "sufficiently pervasive as to alter the conditions of employment." CP 73:4-5. Brooks does not show that the Court could improve sexual harassment law by reviewing her case.

Finally, Issue Statement #4 appears to be an amalgamation of Brooks's dissatisfaction with the outcome of multiple claims. Judge Heller judged the evidence and found that Brooks did not meet her burden of proof. The Petition reflects refusal to accept that the evidence was susceptible to judgment in BPM's favor. It was. Review is unjustified for

this Court to direct liability when the fact-finder determined on all the evidence that BPM did not violate the law.

Brooks offers no reasonable basis to conclude that review of her case would refine or improve the law, nor does she articulate a new rule that warrants this Court's consideration.

### C. Brooks Undermines Review by Falsely Premising Her Proposed Issues.

This Court should decline review because the proposed issue statements are falsely premised. As already explained (*see supra*, III.A., IV.A at note 2, IV.B. at note 3), Brooks misrepresents the Findings in Issue Statements #1, #3, and #4, and throughout the Petition. A petitioner who misrepresents the record squanders opportunity for review. Review would be a waste because the issue statements will not be borne out by this record.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Brooks had her day in court. She failed to convince the fact-finder of her view of events. She did not meet her burden of proof as plaintiff. Judge Heller's findings support his legal conclusions that Brooks did not prove a claim against BPM. Brooks essentially asks this Court to rule that she had a right to judgment on four claims. She fails to demonstrate that she had any such right. This case—with all the disputed evidence that Judge Heller weighed and reconciled—is not a suitable vehicle to review

any of the issues proposed by Brooks. The law is adequately defined, the verdict is consistent with that law, and Brooks's issue statements are built on false premises.

This Court should deny review.